# MOBILIZATION OF SUPPORT BY UKRAINIAN POLITICAL ACTORS THROUGH THE USE OF PUBLIC DIPLOMACY

By Dilara Bergler

Submitted to
Central European University
Department of International Relations

In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in International Relations

Supervisor: Dr. Erzsébet Strausz

Vienna, Austria

2023

#### **ABSTRACT**

Since the start of the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022, public diplomacy by Ukrainian political actors, meaning political actors directly engaging a foreign audience, has received significant attention. Especially the speeches by Ukrainian President Volodymyr Zelensky have been covered frequently in public media, particularly in western nations. Since his speeches are often about western support for Ukraine, this opens the question how Ukrainian political actors like him use public diplomacy to influence western public opinion to gain support for Ukraine. To explore this topic, this thesis performs discourse analysis on speeches given by president Zelensky to analyze how he influences the discourse on western support for Ukraine by constructing identities and representations that enable such support. In the analysis, the role of emotion is highlighted both for the construction of identities and how it is used to make the discursive representations persuasive. The results show that Zelensky uses different modes of engagement to promote and enable support for Ukraine with his audience. He uses emotion to support his representations and construct a shared identity for Ukraine and other western nations that allows western nations to see the conflict from Ukraine's perspective.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

I would like to thank my thesis advisor Dr. Erzsébet Strausz for her continued guidance and support in the writing of this thesis, but also throughout my studies at the Central European University. I had the privilege to learn too many things to possibly list from both her and other faculty at CEU, which helped me advance both academically and as a person. I will forever be grateful for this opportunity!

I would also like to thank my family and everyone else who has stood by my side and encouraged me throughout my studies. I cannot begin to express what your support means to me, so I will simply leave it at thank you!

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Introdu	action	1
2 Literati	ure Review	6
	2.1 Public Diplomacy	6
	2.2 Social Constructivism	8
	2.3 Emotion	10
	2.4 Public Diplomacy and Policy Decision Making	11
	2.5 Ukrainian Public Diplomacy	13
	2.6 President Zelensky's Statement and Speeches	14
3 Methodology		
	3.1 Discourse Analysis	18
	3.2 Performed Analysis	19
	3.3 Positionality and Limitations.	22
4 Zelensky's Support Discourse		
	4.1 Intertextual References	23
	4.2 Visual Representation	25
	4.3 Personal Connection	26
	4.4 Cultivation of Credibility	27
	4.5 Emotions and Affect	28
5 Identity Construction		
	5.1 The Self	31
	5.2 The West	33
	5.3 The Other	34

6 Support Mobilization in Discourse		
6.1 War as Attacks on the West	37	
6.2 Norms, Morals and Duty	38	
6.3 Reframing Materialities	39	
6.4 Fear and Self-Interest	40	
6.5 Urgency and Agency	41	
6.6 Goal-Setting	42	
7 Conclusion		
Appendix: Analyzed Speeches		
Bibliography		

#### 1 Introduction

In February 2022, Russia started its full-scale invasion of Ukraine (Lock et al. 2022). To different degrees, the US and European nations like Germany publicly committed to supporting Ukraine with material as well as to impose sanctions on Russia in case of an invasion (Luscombe 2022). Over the course of the war, western financial, military, humanitarian and intelligence support has increased and remains critical to all areas of Ukraine's defense (Falk 2022; Antezza et al. 2022). While some support is provided proactively, other types of support have been directly requested by Ukraine (Child et al. 2022) or have only been provided after continued efforts of Ukraine to convince its allies to do so. A prominent recent example are the modern tanks supplied to Ukraine by Germany and the US, which have been demanded by Ukraine for some time (Aljazeera 2023).

To mobilize this support from western nations, Ukraine has relied significantly on foreign public opinion being in their favor. While there are certainly negotiations about support through diplomatic channels unknown to the public, Ukrainian officials speaking to the public of foreign nations directly has received noteworthy attention. Especially the speeches given by President Zelensky to audiences ranging from parliaments to university students have become well known over the course of the war (Adams 2022). As noted by Horbyk and Orlova (2022, 1–2), Ukraine learned from the Russian annexation of Crimea in 2014, when it did not manage to create a clear image of what had happened quickly enough in response to Russian aggression. Compared to then, in the current conflict Ukraine put forward a focused effort to shape the narrative from the start, making it clear to other nations that it is the victim of unprovoked aggression by Russia (Horbyk and Orlova 2022, 1–2).

This thesis examines the way in which Ukrainian political actors use public diplomacy, which means directly engaging and communicating with a foreign audience (Melissen 2005,

3), to mobilize western support since the start of the Russian invasion. Since modern public diplomacy is a diverse field and there are too many actors to cover fully, this thesis limits its analysis to acts of public diplomacy by Ukrainian president Volodymyr Zelensky. He is a prominent official representative of Ukraine that regularly engages publicly with western nations, which leads to the research question of this thesis: How does president Zelensky use public diplomacy to influence western public opinion to gain support for Ukraine?

To analyze these efforts by president Zelensky, this thesis builds on the social constructivist perspective on security, which emphasizes the role constructed social identities play in international conflict (Risse-Kappen 1996, 296–97). It investigates which discursive representations Ukrainian political actors try to establish and how they are relevant to the discourse on western policy decisions about support for Ukraine. Emotion plays a significant role in the discourse, especially when it comes to power structures and defining what policy actions are even considered possible (Koschut et al. 2017, 21). As a result, another important question is what role emotions and emotional diplomacy play in the public diplomacy of president Zelensky.

The thesis explores which subjects, objects and identities are constructed or reinforced in official statements given by president Zelensky. In doing so, it highlights how Ukraine attempts to influence the discourse about the conflict and how this is related to Ukraine's requests for western support. By considering how public diplomacy is used for enabling western support, it contributes to understanding its use for mediating relationships with potential supporting countries and how it might influence their policy decisions. Previous studies have suggested that local public opinion has a significant effect on politicians' decisions on military policy (Tomz, Weeks, and Yarhi-Milo 2019, 19–21), which makes the public diplomacy of Ukraine and how it attempts to influence the discourse on the war a relevant factor to study. Through its investigation of the discursive representations promoted by Ukraine, this thesis

helps to understand how public diplomacy is used for foreign support mobilization by Ukraine since the start of its conflict with Russia in 2022.

To investigate how Ukrainian political actors use public diplomacy, this thesis performs discourse analysis on the public diplomacy efforts of president Zelensky. Specifically, it analyzes statements given by Zelensky in which he either addressed a foreign public directly or which have been made available to the public between February 2022 and March 2023. The goal of discourse analysis is to reveal how meaning and knowledge are constructed socially and as a result also how political reality is formed. This way, it allows insight into underlying power structures and can help reveal the methods through which actors try to influence discourses (Dunn and Neumann 2017, 262–64). Methodologically, the discourse analysis is based on the discourse analysis framework suggested by Iver Neumann (2008, 75–76). Including the elements important for the social constructivist perspective and discourse analysis, this thesis wants to uncover some of the ways Ukraine tries to influence the discourse by identifying and analyzing the identities (Jepperson, Wendt, and Katzenstein 1996, 8–9; Wendt 1999, 318–43; Kowert 1998, 101-9), representations and metaphors (Neumann 2008, 61-62) constructed and used in the statements. To achieve this, the techniques of discourse analysis outlined by Gee (2014) and Van Dijk (2012) are used. The texts are analyzed in terms of multiple features, including the use of language, grammar, context, intertextuality and framing (Gee 2014). Together, these features work to construct representations and identities in the discourse and by analyzing how they do so, the analysis helps reveal the dynamics of power and influence in the discourse (Neumann 2008, 70). The discourse is also analyzed in terms of its emotional aspects, since emotion plays an important role for effective public diplomacy (Koschut et al. 2017, 2). Specifically, this thesis explores how emotion is used to reinforce the representations and identities constructed in the discourse and increase their credibility. This type of analysis is especially fitting because the video recordings of official statements allow for non-textual aspects such as tone, facial expressions, or aesthetics to be considered, which have often not been included (Koschut et al. 2017, 2). Through its openness and flexibility, discourse analysis is well suited for analyzing public diplomacy efforts, especially in terms of how they might influence representations and constructed identities. Having such an analysis in place then makes it possible to take a broader view to discuss how an act of soft power such as public diplomacy may succeed in influencing certain hard power policies, such as providing support with modern military material.

From here on, the thesis will continue as follows. First, the literature on the theoretical background will be reviewed, followed by an overview of recent literature on the topic. The focus is on theories of public and emotional diplomacy, considered from a social constructivist perspective. A social constructivist perspective provides a viewpoint from which the role of identity and how it is constructed can be analyzed. It also provides a useful understanding of public diplomacy, since it works as a model for how it can influence identity construction (Byrne 2016, 178–79). Theories on specific aspects of public diplomacy relevant to the topic, will also be included, which will support the relevance of this thesis by showing how public diplomacy and foreign policy decision making are connected.

Next, the research methodology will be described in detail, including the theoretical background of discourse analysis. This chapter will also make the limitations of the performed discourse analysis clear and address the positionality of the author.

Following the chapter on methodology, the thesis will describe the findings and implications of the discourse analysis. First, President Zelensky's support discourse is described. The analysis is categorized into intertextual references, visual representations, personal connection, ways to build credibility, as well as the use of emotions and affect. This categorization is based on the most frequent representations found in the discourse analysis and aims to show how the representations are established.

Next, the identities constructed through the discourse are analyzed. The constructed identities of the Self, the Other and the West and how they are related in the discourse are discussed, highlighting how their construction influences how the discourse creates meaning.

Following that, the findings of the previous chapters are combined in terms of how they relate to support mobilization, highlighting some of the most frequent techniques used in the analyzed speeches and connecting them back to the literature on public diplomacy. This chapter will explore the relationship between Ukrainian public diplomacy through President Zelensky's statements and their potential influence on western support.

Finally, the conclusion will review the most important findings and summarize their implications.

#### 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

This literature review is structured as follows. First, public diplomacy is introduced and explained regarding its relation to the research aim of this thesis. Next, the theoretical background of the thesis is laid out by explaining the basic concept of social constructivism, why it was chosen as a theoretic model for this thesis and how it relates to public diplomacy. From there a concept of emotion and its relevancy for public diplomacy is introduced, since this allows the analysis to find points Zelensky emphasizes and understand how the representations are made convincing (Solomon 2014, 722). To make it clear why investigating the public diplomacy of Ukraine for support mobilization is relevant, the role of public diplomacy in foreign policy decisions is explored. From there current literature about Ukrainian public diplomacy, especially since the start of the war, is reviewed and discussed in its relation to the topic of this thesis. Finally, recent literature on president Zelensky is presented to show how this thesis' work on his public diplomacy relates to it and to compare findings where possible.

#### 2.1 Public Diplomacy

One of the key theoretic concepts this thesis is centered around is public diplomacy, a term which was "allegedly coined by a former American diplomat and Dean of the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy, Edmund Gullion" (Melissen 2005, 6). Broadly speaking, public diplomacy refers to acts of diplomacy that target the public of the other country directly, instead of their political representation (Melissen 2005, 5). Paul Sharp (2005) defines public diplomacy as "the process by which direct relations are pursued with a country's people to advance the interests and extend the values of those being represented" (Sharp 2005, 106). On the surface, this definition could also apply to propaganda (Melissen 2005, 17). While there are similarities between public diplomacy and propaganda, they are different concepts. Propaganda is

associated with deceit and manipulation (Melissen 2005, 17; Graham 2014, 524–26), attributes that clearly make it different from what we could call honest communication. While this alone would not be enough to distinguish it from public diplomacy, there is a second distinction between the two in the direction of communication. Propaganda is a form of one-way communication, while public diplomacy is two-way and also involves listening (Melissen 2005, 18). Like propaganda, public diplomacy also tries to influence and persuade an audience, but it is "persuasion by means of dialogue" (Melissen 2005, 18) instead of the one-way messaging of propaganda.

Public diplomacy first became well studied during the cold war, where it was mostly the superpowers that used it in their sphere of influence (Gilboa 2008, 55). Gilboa (2008, 56) describes that the first major change to public diplomacy happened following the 9/11 attacks, when international news networks and the internet instantly made every world event globally visible. From that point on, public diplomacy changed to something that became hard to directly define, but is characterized as a combination of different areas such as diplomacy, marketing and foreign policy (Gilboa 2008, 58). Public diplomacy was also strongly affected by the internet, giving it new tools and increasing the size of the potential target audience (Melissen 2005, 13; Manor 2019, 30–34).

To understand the role of public diplomacy in international relations it is also helpful to see it in relation to the role of traditional diplomatic practice. Especially James Der Derian's (1987, 106–7) concept of diplomacy as a mediator of estrangement and alienation gives an insightful perspective on public diplomacy (Graham 2014, 535). In his work on finding a theory of diplomacy, he argues that the idea of alienation and estrangement as described by Hegel, Feuerbach, Marx and others is a necessary part for understanding the concept of diplomacy (Derian 1987, 91–93). Phrases like "alienating one's allies" are frequent in diplomatic language and usually refer to actions that would damage the relationship to another country in some way

(Derian 1987, 94). From this perspective, the terms alienation and estrangement should not only be understood in such a narrow way, but rather as the combination of the historical and philosophical meanings. In this view, estrangement is a form of removal and separation from the environment (Derian 1987, 96). Just as individuals can become estranged from each other and alienate one another, when states are looked at as acting subjects, they can alienate and become estranged as well. In this system of different levels of alienation and estrangement (Derian 1987, 93), diplomacy is what mediates this estrangement (Derian 1987, 107). Diplomacy is what might cause alienation, but also what can work to prevent it or change a relationship to a closer and familiar one. Der Derian's concept of diplomacy can also support a better understanding of public diplomacy. Just like regular diplomacy mediates estrangement between powers and states, public diplomacy can be seen as mediating estrangement between a state and a foreign public (Graham 2014, 534–35).

For this thesis, this conceptualization is important, because president Zelensky's statements are publicly available and received (The Presidential Office of Ukraine 2023), which makes them acts of public diplomacy. At the same time, the statements often address official representations, for example when he addressed the Austrian parliament (Zelensky 2023k), which can also be considered similar to traditional diplomatic practice. As a result of this combination, a theoretical perspective which combines an understanding of traditional diplomatic practice and public diplomacy is well suited to explore the public diplomacy of Ukraine through Zelensky's statements.

#### 2.2 Social Constructivism

The theoretical background on which this thesis is built is social constructivism. Public diplomacy indirectly assumes that the opinion of the foreign public or the relationship with that foreign public is relevant for the interests of the state engaging in public diplomacy. If the result

were irrelevant, there would be no reason for states to use it in the first place. Since social constructivism focuses on social relationships and constructed identities that can change (Wendt 1999, 318–30), it is a useful theory for analyzing public diplomacy. As Caitlyn Byrne (2016) describes in her chapter on the theoretical concepts of public diplomacy:

However, public diplomacy's evolving model finds a natural synergy with the theory of social constructivism. Constructivism's emphasis on the power of ideas and the interplay between actors and their social context holds an immediate appeal. Like constructivism, public diplomacy challenges the traditional power structures and mechanisms of foreign policy. Constructivism brings the inter-subjective dimensions of public diplomacy to the fore. It highlights the potential that exists through iterative processes of social interaction between participants to build the trust needed to shift embedded perceptions and norms that might otherwise be a cause for tension and hostility (Byrne 2016, 178–79).

A constructivist viewpoint also provides conceptualizations of the state that are useful for analyzing public diplomacy. The idea of the state as a single and independent actor has been problematized in the literature (Wendt 1999, 196–97), which suggests a need to look beyond the state as the main actor in international relations. The different notions of the state outlined by (1999) are a useful basis for analyzing public diplomacy. In his work, he describes two concepts that he considers to be opposites of one another, the Weberian view (Wendt 1999, 199–200) and the Pluralist view (Wendt 1999, 200). The Weberian view sees the state as a unitary actor that is "not conceptually dependent on society" (Wendt 1999, 199). The pluralist view in comparison sees the state as groups of individuals with different interests. The actions of the state are the actions of the individuals representing the state in their political functions (Wendt 1999, 200). For this thesis and the context of public diplomacy both concepts are useful. Since public diplomacy is addressed at the public of another state and not the official representatives, it already assumes that the state is not a unitary actor. On the other hand, when analyzing the acts of public diplomacy that a state performs, such as the official statements by president Zelensky analyzed in this thesis, a unitary concept is helpful, since it can help simplify

parts of identity construction like considering the state's interest (Wendt 1999, 233–35). From the perspective of the country that engages in public diplomacy, the other states might also be seen or spoken to as unitary actors. This shows a tension in the concept of statehood in public diplomacy, since it engages with a wider audience which shows that it internally assumes a pluralist model, even though it does not do so outwardly.

#### 2.3 Emotion

To understand and analyze Ukraine's public diplomacy and particularly president Zelensky's statements in detail, another factor that should be considered is the role of emotion. Roland Bleiker and Emma Hutchinson (2008, 116) argue that emotions are important for understanding certain issues in international relations and give the example of the effects of fear in security dilemmas. Since the field of international relations has stayed close to the social sciences, the role of emotions has traditionally not been considered (Bleiker and Hutchison 2008, 124–25). To overcome this and better integrate the role of emotions, they describe that research has to accept that some insights can come from things that cannot be observed directly. Instead research should focus on representations of emotions and their impact (Bleiker and Hutchison 2008, 117–18). Studying representations of emotions allows insight into, as Emma Hutchinson writes, the "process through which individual emotions become collective and political." (Hutchison and Bleiker 2014, 506).

The specific act of public diplomacy which is analyzed in this thesis, president Zelensky's statements, is another reason why considering emotions is important. Since president Zelensky is an official representative of Ukraine, whenever he shows emotions, he does so officially in his role as president. Todd Hall (2015, 16–17) describes this process as emotional diplomacy. By showing certain emotion in his public diplomacy, his emotions are also seen as the emotions of Ukraine as a state. Through public diplomacy Ukraine can show

how it reacts to an issue emotionally, even though a state is not a person with emotions. Zelensky's intentional performance of emotion in the form of emotional labor (Hall 2015, 21–22; Hochschild 2012, 148) is an important part of how his public diplomacy interacts with norms. By using emotion to show approval or disapproval he can signal which norms he expects other nations to respect or use appeals to existing norms to his benefit. As Sarah Ellen Graham (2014, 531) argues, emotions determine and explain if and how normative change happens in the context of public diplomacy. She also highlights that considering the role of emotions is necessary to better analyze how public diplomacy interacts with discourses and persuasion (Graham 2014, 535–36), which is an important part of this thesis. The need to consider emotionality and especially affect when analyzing discourse has also been argued by Ty Solomon (2014). Emotion and affect allow to go beyond the langue and rhetorical forms of the discourse and consider the affective responses that give a discourse its persuasive power (Solomon 2014, 728–29; Graham 2014, 529–31).

For this thesis, emotion is used to understand how identity construction and representation work, including emotional attachment to certain groups (Graham 2014, 534) based on their constructed identity. This thesis also considers how emotions make the representations used in Ukrainian public diplomacy more persuasive.

# 2.4 Public Diplomacy and Policy Decision Making

An investigation of Ukrainian public diplomacy like this thesis cannot give concrete reasons for policy decisions made by western states about support for Ukraine. However, it can provide insight into the identities and representations that influence the discourse and public opinion on the topic. The connection between public diplomacy and the policy decisions is only indirect.

Robert Putnam's (1988) Two-Level-Games are a useful model for why the relationship with a foreign public can have an influence on that country's foreign policy. The Two-Level

games work as a model that describes how national and international politics interact. Putnam describes how decision makers play two games at once, one at the national and one at the international level. Any move they make happens on both levels at the same time. What this means is that decisions that make sense on a national level could have unacceptable results at the international level (Putnam 1988, 434–35). For decision makers this means that they need to consider actions that are acceptable in both environments, which Putnam refers to as "winsets" (Putnam 1988, 435–536). Increasing the win-set also means increasing the chance of finding common ground between the two parties (Putnam 1988, 437). By changing the narrative and public opinion on the war with Russia in foreign publics, Ukrainian public diplomacy could also influence the win-set of these foreign countries. By doing so in a way that includes policy options that favor Ukraine, it could affect the chance of these policies being adopted, but there is no way to directly prove a causal relationship.

The idea that public opinion can affect decision making about military matters has also been investigated empirically. Tomz, Weeks and Yarhi-Milo (2019) performed experiments where they gave policy makers and voters fake threat scenarios and public opinion polls. Through those experiments they show that public opinion affects decision making about using military force. Their evaluation showed both that individual voters care about security policy and that they use it when deciding who to vote for in elections (Tomz, Weeks, and Yarhi-Milo 2019, 19–21). It also showed that politicians are aware of this fact and consider it when making security policy decisions (Tomz, Weeks, and Yarhi-Milo 2019, 19–21). These findings are important for this thesis, because they show that analyzing Ukrainian public diplomacy is an important aspect for understanding support mobilization, even when direct influence cannot be proven.

# 2.5 Ukrainian Public Diplomacy

After discussing the background of public diplomacy, how it relates to social constructivism and how public diplomacy is related to policy decisions, this section will bring these aspects together and discuss recent research on Ukrainian public diplomacy.

Since the start of the war with Russia in 2022, Ukraine's public diplomacy and foreign policy has started receiving a lot of attention from researchers. In their work from 2021, Sheludiakova, Mamurov and Maksymova (2021, 2–3) explore the long-term interest of Ukraine and how it is communicated using public diplomacy. Ukraine even established a separate department for public diplomacy under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Sheludiakova et al. 2021, 3; Lee 2022, 9), highlighting the need for Ukraine to control its public image. Sheludiakova et al. (2021, 4) emphasize that Ukraine seems to have understood the role of the internet and social media for public diplomacy and that using it well is very important for its foreign policy.

Especially Ukrainian public diplomacy since the start of the war is described as successful (Horbyk and Orlova 2022, 3–4; Lee 2022, 4–7). Horbyk and Orlova (2022, 1–2) describe how Ukraine managed to shift its public image since the war started. While it used to be dominated by Western and Russian influence, Ukraine has started to actively shape its international narrative and successfully countered Russia's strategic communication (2022, 3–4).

Seow Ting Lee (2022, 1) investigates Ukraine's image, but over a longer period time, starting with its independence in 1991 until today. By combining data from relevant indices and doing sentiment analysis on English speaking news sources (Lee 2022, 3–4), she shows how foreign public opinion changed over time. The results show that public opinion on Ukraine started improving after 2014, showing especially strong positive opinion after the 2022 invasion (Lee

2022, 4–7). Recent research on Ukraine's public diplomacy also mentions the role and impact of president Zelensky (Horbyk and Orlova 2022, 3; Lee 2022, 8–9).

Nadia Kaneva (Kaneva 2022) analyzes Ukraine's public diplomacy and nation branding efforts since the start of the Russian invasion. She describes how the image and brand Ukraine tries to portray internationally changed from a typical post-soviet campaign for investment and tourism (Kaneva 2022, 2). Instead, Ukraine focuses on "bravery" and tries to establish a strong moral position from which it can engage with western nations for support (Kaneva 2022, 2–3). Kaneva (2022, 3) uses critical discourse analysis to show how the shift of Ukraine's branding is related to the Cold-War discourse and that it places Ukraine as "one with the West" (2022, 3). The legacy of Ukraine's Soviet past is also addressed by Olena Fomenko (2022). She details how cultural symbols help decolonize and shape the identity of an independent Ukraine, noting how moving away from former Russian symbols has accelerated dramatically since 2022 (Fomenko 2022, 2–3). However, the perceptions of these symbols are not the same between Ukraine and the West, especially when it comes to president Zelensky. While the West connects strongly with Zelensky as a symbol for Ukraine, among Ukrainians resistance and national pride are usually attributed more to the Army itself (Fomenko 2022, 3–4). This is especially relevant for the thesis, since it strongly suggests that the findings about identity in Ukrainian public diplomacy will not be comparable to identities constructed internally in Ukraine.

#### 2.6 President Zelensky's Statement and Speeches

Due to the media attention and his role in Ukrainian public diplomacy, president Zelensky and his speeches have already been the focus of research. In a critical discourse analysis of speeches given by president Zelensky, US president Joe Biden and other prominent figures, Marianna Patrona (Patrona 2022) discusses the audience design of the analyzed speeches and how Zelensky changes his speeches to be specific to his audience. Her work, as well as the work of

other researchers, shows that president Zelensky makes strong use of intertextual references in many of his speeches (Patrona 2022, 261–62; Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 104–5; Potapenko 2023, 4; Zachara-Szymańska 2023, 5). An example is his speech to the UK parliament where he quotes Shakespeare's famous "To be or not to be?" (Zelensky 2022c; Potapenko 2023, 4). He also indirectly references a famous speech by Churchill when he takes a passage for his own statement and changes it so that it fits with Ukraine but is still recognized by his audience (Potapenko 2023, 4). By using these references he builds on a shared cultural understanding with his audience and creates a closer connection (Potapenko 2023, 4; Patrona 2022, 261–62; Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 104–5). He shows understanding for his audience's culture and experiences and relates them directly to Ukraine's current situation.

Patrona (2022, 262–63) also addresses that Zelensky then uses this close connection and strong moral position to directly ask for support. Her work gives important insight into Zelensky's use of shared references to build support in his speeches and mentions his use of emotion to achieve his goals (Patrona 2022, 276). Zelensky himself is also analyzed by Malgorzata Zachara-Szymanska (2023). She describes how his image was transformed into that of a heroic leader with the start of the war (Zachara-Szymańska 2023, 4–5) and how Zelensky has used his status, which is particularly strong in western media (Zachara-Szymańska 2023, 4), to his advantage. She describes how Zelensky relies on normative and strong moral positions to frame the discourse on the topic so that "his nation's defense against Russia has grown symbolically to become perceived as the defense of democracy in the world" (Zachara-Szymańska 2023, 8).

Other studies already analyze specific speeches given by president Zelensky (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022; Potapenko 2023). Misato Matsuoka and Rieko Matsuoka (2022) analyze his speech to the Japanese parliament in March of 2022 based on politeness theory. Their analysis also shows how Zelensky tries to achieve closeness to a general public and not just

with political leaders (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 102–3). Like in the speeches to other nations, he used shared references and related current and past Ukrainian experiences to those of Japanese people. A clear example is the fighting at the Zaporizhzhia nuclear power plant, for which he brings up memories of Chernobyl (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 104–5). These are meant to connect with the Japanese audience, because of their own experience with nuclear incidents in Fukushima (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 104–5).

Lastly, it should not be overlooked that before actually being president of Ukraine, Zelensky was an actor portraying the president in a popular Ukrainian television series (Kaminskij 2022, 157–58). Konstantin Kaminskij (2022, 165–69) describes in a paper written before the 2022 invasion how Zelensky's performance was what helped him get elected as president. His training as an actor is also mentioned by Stephen Langston (2022, 3–4), who suggests that it made it easier for him to display emotions in a controlled way to have the biggest impact on his audience. Building on Erving Goffman's (1956, 10–18) concept of performance, Ben D. Mor (2007, 664–65) describes how public diplomacy performances interact with social norms. From the outside, public diplomacy is a performance that wants to look *as if* expected rules for how to act are followed. The goal is not following the rules, but to be *seen* as rulefollowing (Mor 2007, 664–65). Even though the norm itself is not the goal of the public diplomacy, states that act like they are following the norm still put value on it and reinforce it (Mor 2007, 664–65). This helps to understand how the performance of public diplomacy works to build credibility. By publicly speaking (Mor 2012, 398–400) and acting in a way people expect, for example according to some norms, the audience gets the impression of credibility.

Existing literature has already explored aspects of Ukrainian public diplomacy and president Zelensky's speeches. What this thesis investigates is how Zelensky's acts of public diplomacy, his speeches, can enable western support by influencing public opinion. This thesis will contribute to the literature on public diplomacy by showing how public diplomacy is used

by Ukrainian political actors in this way. It will also show how emotions are important for the discourse and what role they play in Zelensky's public diplomacy.

#### 3 METHODOLOGY

In order to reveal ways in which president Zelensky uses public diplomacy to influence western public opinion to gain support, discourse analysis will be used to uncover and analyze the representations and identities constructed in his speeches. Through this, the way he attempts to influence the discourse on support for Ukraine becomes visible, showing how he uses public diplomacy to enable support. This chapter will briefly introduce discourse analysis and how it is used in this thesis. It will also address the positionality of the author and limitations of the research.

## 3.1 Discourse Analysis

Discourse analysis is, as the name suggests, the study of discourse. Kevin C. Dunn and Iver B. Neumann (2017) introduce discourses as "systems of meaning-production that fix meaning, however temporarily and enable the societies they help constitute to make sense of the world and to act within it." (2017, 262). Discourse analysis assumes that social realities are constructed and can be analyzed through the discourse (Milliken 1999, 229) and that discourses "define subjects authorized to speak and to act" (Milliken 1999, 229). Another idea of discourse analysis, which is especially important for analyzing public diplomacy is that discourses shape the "common sense" (Milliken 1999, 237) of the public. Therefore, the discourse is also important in deciding what policies the public would support (Milliken 1999, 237–38). Discourse analysis traditionally focuses on studying language (Van Dijk and Kintsch 1983, 2–3), but it is not limited to it. According to Neumann (2008, 63), anything that helps to understand and create meaning, including any form of written, verbal or visual communication can be considered a "text" and included in the analysis.

An important factor to consider when analyzing a discourse is emotion (Koschut et al. 2017, 2). As Hutchinson and Bleiker put it: "The key here is that the shape and nature of our

emotions is discursive: emotions are in part constituted through the discourses that condition us to see, to sense, and, crucially, to feel." (Koschut et al. 2017, 22). It is thereby important to consider the role of emotions to understand the discourse and how acts of public diplomacy work to influence it, since emotion is how public diplomacy becomes persuasive (Graham 2014, 512). For the discourse analysis in this thesis, emotion is what makes it possible to understand how a specific representation becomes attractive (Solomon 2014, 722) and from that its influence on how the discourse makes sense of the world.

All these factors make discourse analysis well suited to analyzing acts of public diplomacy. On the one hand because of the similarities in theoretical assumptions, but also because discourse analysis studies "conditions of possibility" (Connolly 2002, xxiv; Bleiker 2017, 320). In the case of this thesis the political conditions of the possibility to support Ukraine. These conditions of possibility are what public diplomacy hopes to create and how public diplomacy enables certain policy positions. In this way discourse analysis makes it possible to consider the potential impact and effect of Zelensky's speeches on support without the need to prove that there is a direct causal link (Bleiker 2017, 319–21). By revealing how meaning is created in the discourse of Zelensky's speeches, discourse analysis can show how real-world events might get interpreted so that certain actions or opinions become possible.

### 3.2 Performed Analysis

For its discourse analysis, this thesis uses the steps suggested by Iver Neumann (2008) as a guide. The first step is choosing which texts to include in the discourse analysis. For this thesis, the texts considered are the official speeches given by Ukrainian president Volodymyr Zelensky. His speeches are chosen because they are directly or indirectly targeting a western public audience which makes them examples of Ukrainian public diplomacy. The statements are also an important part of Ukrainian public diplomacy since Zelensky is the most important

official representative of Ukraine. His statements have also already received attention from researchers (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 103–5; Potapenko 2023, 4; Patrona 2022, 261–63), which also shows the importance of studying them. Furthermore, many of Zelensky's statements have some advantages that make them well suited for discourse analysis. They are available online (The Presidential Office of Ukraine 2023) and are either delivered in English or include an English translation. The criteria for a speech to be included in the analysis of this thesis were: Availability, English language or translations and connections to the discourse on support for Ukraine. The individual speeches that get analyzed have been chosen based on a combination of Neumann's (2008) idea of monuments, meaning central texts that received a lot of attention (2008, 67) and his ludic approach (2008, 66). The ludic approach allows the researcher to include and explore texts which appear important based on their experience when engaging with them (Neumann 2008, 66).

The second step is to identify and describe the representations in the texts (Neumann 2008, 70). To do this there are different techniques available. For analyzing the text, the tools proposed by James Paul Gee (2014) are used. He lays out aspects he calls tools, which can be considered in the text, including language use, grammar, context, intertextuality, rhetorical tools and framing (Gee 2014). In addition to this and to see how Zelensky's statements try to create the knowledge, this thesis also uses the contributions of Teun van Dijk (2012, 587–602). Especially the idea about context and focus is helpful, because it includes the context of the text itself (Van Dijk 2012, 592–93). In a text, the focus and emphasis will be on the parts that bring new knowledge to the audience. By combining focus with the context of a speech, the parts of the text Zelensky emphasizes are revealed (Van Dijk 2012, 592–93). This also shows where in the text he tries to introduce new knowledge into the discourse, since the language and delivery will focus especially on that.

The third step is to put the identified representations into context to understand how they work to construct identities, narratives and change over time (Neumann 2008, 73–74). This includes studying "meaning and materiality" (Neumann 2008, 74), which means analyzing how certain material events are interpreted socially (Neumann 2008, 74). It is especially important for this thesis to understand how materiality is related to meaning, because both the war in general and the support Ukraine asks for are material.

This thesis also considers the role of emotion in discourse. Since studying emotions is challenging (Bleiker and Hutchison 2017, 334) it is important to consider how to analyze emotions separately. Bleiker and Hutchinson (2017, 334–35) recommend using multidisciplinary methods. Instead of just using one method, multiple methods should ideally be used, even if they seem incompatible and incomparable (Bleiker and Hutchison 2017, 335–36). Since this thesis is not only about emotions, it mostly considers them through their role in the discourse to make representations persuasive.

To analyze emotions in the context of discourse this thesis follows the suggestions of Simon Koschut (2017, 272–81) as a general guide. He recommends first mapping emotional expressions found in the texts, both direct mentions of emotions and terms that have a strong emotional aspect (Koschut 2017, 283–85). After the mapping, it is analyzed and considered how the mapped emotions contribute to specific representations and identities, which can then be interpreted (Koschut 2017, 285–88). Within discourse analysis, this thesis considers emotion and affect through different kinds of texts (Neumann 2008, 65). These texts are the linguistic features of president Zelensky's statements, how he speaks and the visual parts of how the speech is delivered. Since the medium of video contains all these texts simultaneously, the role of emotion for each representation can be considered from different perspectives.

### 3.3 Positionality and Limitations

The two most important points that need to be addressed in terms of positionality is my nationality and my spoken languages as the author. As an Austrian, I am a national of a country that belongs to what I call "western nations" in my thesis. Thereby I am not only part of the targeted audience, such as with president Zelensky's statement to the Austrian parliament (Zelensky 2023k), I also consume western news media in day-to-day life. What I mean by "western nations" in the context of this thesis are nations located in Europe, member states of the EU and members of NATO. I do not speak Ukrainian or Russian, which means that I rely entirely on the official English translations of president Zelensky's speeches for my analysis, which limits the selection of speeches. There is also a chance of me missing some intertextual or cultural references in the speeches if I am not familiar with them. I expect this not to be the case often, since Zelensky's speeches use precisely those references known by his audience (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022, 103–5; Potapenko 2023, 4; Patrona 2022, 261–63).

#### 4 ZELENSKY'S SUPPORT DISCOURSE

President Volodymyr Zelensky's statements and speeches to other countries, conferences, world leaders and the public are an important part of Ukrainian public diplomacy. Together, they participate in and shape the discourse on supporting Ukraine. This chapter discusses the results of the discourse analysis of president Zelensky's speeches. Multiple speeches in the time period between February 2022 and March 2023 have been analyzed. These are: Zelensky's address at the 2022 Munich security conference (Zelensky 2022a), his address to the UK parliament on March 8th 2022 (Zelensky 2022c), his address to the First Parliamentary summit of the Crimea platform (Zelensky 2022e), his speech to the World Economic Forum 2023 (Zelensky 2023b), his address to the Advisory Group on the Defense of Ukraine (Zelensky 2023d), his daily public address on the 28th of January (Zelensky 2023e), his address to the European Council meeting on March 23rd 2023 (Zelensky 2023i). An overview table of these speeches can be found in the appendix of this thesis.

From here on, this chapter discusses different features of president Zelensky's speeches. By revealing these features with which he constructs representations and identities, the constructions can then be analyzed in terms of their relation to the mobilization of western support. The goal of this chapter is to show that Zelensky combines these features together, relying on a combination of techniques to support his representations in the discourse.

#### 4.1 Intertextual References

One of the first things noticeable in Zelensky's speeches is his use of intertextual references to shared cultural or historical knowledge and recent events. Recent analyses of his speeches to Japan (Matsuoka and Matsuoka 2022) and the UK parliament (Potapenko 2023) already mentioned his use of intertextual references and how the references are audience specific

(Patrona 2022, 261–63) which is why the same references mentioned there are not described here again. At the Munich Security conference 2022, days before the Russian invasion, he was trying to gain support by referencing the beginning of the second World War.

As the question "Why die for Danzig?" turned into the need to die for Dunkirk (Zelensky 2022a)

Here he relied on historical knowledge of his audience to make the connection, which he did not address directly. The question "Why die for Danzig" is associated with French people used to support Germany in the second World War (Smogorzewski 1975, 95). He also relied on the audience knowing that at Dunkirk the allied armies had to flee from the advancing Germans in the second World War (Summerfield 2010, 786–87).

The used intertextual references are not always historic. They are also drawn from general culture, such as at the 2023 Munich Security Conference, when Zelensky's address was titled "David on the Dnipro: Ukraine's fight for freedom" (Munich Security Conference 2023). Zelensky picked up the idea of David from the biblical story of David and Goliath in his speech (Zelensky 2023g) and continued using analogies that assume the audience is familiar with the story. One such example is him referring to weapons as the sling from the story, when he says "I am grateful to everyone who gives the sling to Ukrainian David" (Zelensky 2023g). It is important to note that his intertextual references are often not neutral.

The references have clear sides where one of them is viewed very favorably and the other one very negatively. In the previous example David is the protagonist that gets viewed favorably. Zelensky consistently uses the favorable side as an analogy for Ukraine or for support and the negative side for Russia or Putin. Through this he connects the representation of Ukraine or the support with references that the audience knows and already sees favorably.

#### 4.2 Visual Representation

Representations in Zelensky's speeches also include visual aspects, which is an intentional aspect of public diplomacy, since the videos are published alongside the transcripts and feature still images from the video recording for those only reading (Zelensky 2023b; 2023g; 2023e).

Since president Zelensky himself is the main content of the video, the visual representations are often connected to his person. This starts with the clothing he wears. His clothing alone has already received attention in the media (*The Times of India* 2022; Buncombe 2022; Friedman 2022). In all speeches analyzed, Zelensky wore khaki green or black clothes. The exception is his speech at the Munich Security Conference 2022 before the invasion, where he still wore a suit and tie like the other participants (Zelensky 2022b). The change of Zelensky's clothes that happened with the start of the invasion and especially their color can be interpreted as a signifier (Andersen, Vuori, and Guillaume 2015, 441). The shade of green is similar to the shade of the uniform of soldiers, which suggests a closeness between soldiers and Zelensky. That his clothes are the color of soldier's uniforms and that the type of clothing is also different from the other suits also visually separates him from the politicians of other countries he interacts with. His clothing helps him remind his audience that the war is still ongoing.

The visual representations also include president Zelensky as a person outside of his role as president. While he was still shaven at the Munich Security Conference 2022 (Zelensky 2023h), in his address to the UK parliament on March 8th he was wearing a beard (Zelensky 2022d). While wearing a beard alone might not represent anything, this change happened with the start of the invasion. Together with the clothes it represents Zelensky as someone who does not have time for or is not concerned about appearances. From the perspective of discourse analysis, we have to consider that this is an intentional representation. In his speech to the World Economic Forum 2023 (Zelensky 2023c), he looks visibly tired. In other situations, this might

have been lessened with make-up, but here the lighting from above seems to make the appearance even stronger. It suggests the representation of him as somebody who is not concerned with appearances, who fights, despite exhaustion, to gain support for Ukraine.

The background and setting of the speeches also convey important information. At each of the speeches analyzed, there is a Ukrainian flag (Zelensky 2022d; 2023j) or the Ukrainian coat of arms visible in some way (Zelensky 2023f). While most of the analyzed speeches appear to be filmed in a simple meeting room, there are notable exceptions. An example of this is Zelensky's speech to the European Council Meeting (Zelensky 2023j), which he delivers from the hallway of a train. Other times, Zelensky appears to record speeches by himself, since he can be seen holding the camera in the video (Zelensky 2023f). This changes the context around the speech from a carefully written one to a more personal and spontaneous exchange.

Lastly, it should be mentioned that the visual representations in Zelensky's statements are very consistent over time. Elements such as his clothes, the colors, the setting and the Ukrainian flags or symbols are used consistently. While it was not explicitly analyzed in its content, an interesting example of this is his Christmas address from 2023 (Zelensky 2023a). Zelensky delivers Christmas wishes in what looks like traditional clothing. What stands in contrast is that the clothing is still in the military green color and the decoration stitched onto the piece of clothing shows a tank (Zelensky 2023a). Even in a Christmas address the visual message that the war is still ongoing is present.

#### 4.3 Personal Connection

In his speeches, president Zelensky addresses other politicians in a very personal way. In the speech at the 2023 Munich Security Conference, he personally thanked German chancellor Scholz and French prime minister Macron using their first names.

I thank Olaf and Emmanuel who are present here on this panel. (Zelensky 2023h)

Representations of closeness and a personal relationship are often a part of the speeches. Zelensky also frames the issues he talks about so that the audience interprets it from a very personal perspective. Another example of this is the address in the Ramstein format, in which he asks his audience to view the conflict as children and parents (Zelensky 2023d). These representations of closeness need to be considered when seeing the speeches as public diplomacy. It changes how future interactions with others are seen and increases the chance for interaction. Additionally, it suggests that the countries of these leaders are also personally close and friendly with each other.

# 4.4 Cultivation of Credibility

A central theme in the discourse is credibility, especially in relation to statements by Russia. In the speech to the 2022 Munich Security conference, days before the start of Russia's invasion, president Zelensky questioned the credibility of Russian intentions in the opening of his speech. "Ukraine wants peace. Europe wants peace. The world says it doesn't want to fight, and Russia says it doesn't want to attack. Someone is lying." (Zelensky 2022a). Zelensky ends the speech with an emotional story about a Ukrainian soldier allegedly killed that same day by Russian artillery fire.

I don't know what he thought at the last moment of his life. (...) But he knows exactly the answer to the question I asked at the beginning. He knows exactly who of us is lying.(Zelensky 2022a)

As mentioned in the literature review, this type of public diplomacy conducted by Ukraine to protect its credibility and question Russia's has already been noted by Horbyk and Orlova

(2022, 2). Credibility is not a new concept in public diplomacy. Robert Gass and John Seiter (2020) analyze credibility in public diplomacy and explain how it is built. These are expertise, trustworthiness and goodwill (Gass and Seiter 2020, 159–63). The example above shows how he uses an anecdote to represent himself as trustworthy, because the anecdote supports his claims. Taken together with the its beginning, the end of the anecdote is supposed to be evidence of his trustworthiness. Zelensky also tries to establish expertise by mentioning international law and specific legal agreements (Zelensky 2022a). To signal goodwill he emphasizes that Ukraine plays by the rules even when their opponent allegedly does not (Zelensky 2022c). Additionally, they describe that to appear credible, "a leader must remain calm, cool, and collected in a crisis." (Gass and Seiter 2020, 163), which Zelensky does in his speeches (Zelensky 2022d; 2023h; 2023j).

#### 4.5 Emotions and Affect

Emotions are present in the representations of Zelensky's speeches in different ways. First, Zelensky uses his own emotions to add focus on certain parts of his speeches and support the content of the speech, for example when he shows frustration when mentioning how slow decisions help Putin in the war (Zelensky 2023h; 2023g). However, the role of emotion also extends to the representations related to the audience.

Zelensky addresses his audience in different ways, sometimes speaking to people individually, for example when he asks them to "remember the world your parents dreamed of for you." (Zelensky 2023d). Other time he speaks to his audience as if they are individual states (Zelensky 2022a), especially when speaking about concrete measures of support. By switching between addressing the audience personally and speaking to them as state actors, he connects the personal emotional side of his speech to the political action he tries to promote. The choice of words also has an emotional aspect when he uses terms that are already connected with

certain emotions for his audience. An example for this is his use of the word "terror" to refer to Russian attacks (Zelensky 2022c), which connects the emotional reaction to the word terror with the Russian attacks.

On the individual level, Zelensky often uses tragic stories of single people (Zelensky 2022a) or civilian victims (Zelensky 2023e). They are phrased so that people have empathy with the victims and respond emotionally with sadness on the one hand and on the other with anger towards the attacker. In his speech to the European Council meeting for example, he describes the people's living condition.

With destroyed houses – destroyed by Russian artillery. Houses with plywood instead of glass in the windows where people are still trying to live.(Zelensky 2023i)

When delivering the speech, Zelensky paused before adding "where people are still trying to live." (Zelensky 2023i). What started off as a description of an empty and destroyed city suddenly changed to a description of how people *try* to live. Through this he uses the affectual emotional response (Solomon 2014, 722) to strengthen the representation. The speeches also contain parts that are likely to cause an affectual response in the audience. An example for this is the speech to the World Economic Forum, where Zelensky asked for a minute of silence after saying that "Fourteen Ukrainian families lost their loved-ones today. And many more families are losing daily because of the war." (Zelensky 2023b). In the video recording of the speech, Zelensky stands up for the minute of silence and the audience follows him, also standing up (Zelensky 2023c). When seeing affect as a social phenomenon (Bleiker and Hutchison 2017, 331), examples like the minute of silence can create shared emotional experiences.

Emotion is also used when Zelensky addresses his audience as if they were states. He makes this clear when he says that "I'm not calling you by name - I don't want some other

countries to be ashamed." (Zelensky 2022a). The representations in Zelensky's speeches also use emotions for different representations of the audience. They address individual people, states as unitary actors (Wendt 1999, 199–200) and states as pluralist actors (Wendt 1999, 200).

This chapter discussed different features of president Zelensky's speeches, which he combines to construct representations in the discourse. With this background, the next part of the analysis can focus on the identities that are constructed and how they are important for western public opinion and support for Ukraine.

#### **5 IDENTITY CONSTRUCTION**

The previous chapter uncovered different features of Zelensky's discourse, which show that he combines multiple techniques, such as emotions and intertextual references to construct representations and identities. Especially the construction of identities is an important part of his public diplomacy. Which identities he constructs, how he does so and how they relate to each other will be discussed in this chapter. By constructing identities and their relationship, Zelensky's public diplomacy can influence public opinion in other nations and mediate the relationship with the foreign public. By analyzing representations that occurred often, the discourse analysis shows that are three major identities constructed in the discourse, which are the Self, the West and the Other. Representations of specific events or realities are always related to these identities in some way, which makes studying them important for understanding how Zelensky creates meaning in his speeches.

#### 5.1 The Self

The Self is the most important and often constructed identity in Zelensky's speeches and gets constructed in different ways. Part of the identity construction is just about Ukraine itself. This is when Ukraine is represented in relation to the western nations in questions about support. Ukraine is usually represented in relation to Russia, the Other. In these cases, the constructed identity of the Self in Zelensky's speeches is not just about Ukraine. Instead, he constructs a larger identity that also includes Ukraine. An example is Zelensky's speech to the summit of the Crimea Platform (Zelensky 2022e) when he spoke about free expression.

It is available everywhere on our continent - from the Atlantic to the Kharkiv region.(Zelensky 2022e)

He refers to Europe as "our continent" (Zelensky 2022e) and he also describes concrete geographical areas (Zelensky 2022e). The Self that is being constructed here shares ownership of the continent, which also includes Ukraine. In the way this Self is constructed, the Other is also included in the construction. The Other begins where free expression ends, which frames Russia as the non-European Other. When considering the events of the war at the time before the speech, October 25<sup>th</sup> 2022 (Zelensky 2022e), there is also an intertextual reference included. The region saw heavy fighting in the weeks before and Ukraine successfully recaptured large amounts of land there (Kuznetsov 2022). Through this, the identity of Ukraine is not only that it shares the continent with others, but that it also actively defends it and fights for shared values like freedom. The representation of Ukraine fighting for shared values is supported in the speech by the intertextual reference of Ukraine fighting Russia successfully, but also through the visual aspects of the speech itself. Other than the green shirt, the recording shows a round open table around which the participants are sitting(Zelensky 2022f). Zelensky, who joined remotely, is projected larger than life on multiple screens including a large screen that the participants are looking up to (Zelensky 2022f). In this way, the setting supports the representation of Ukraine as the large and important defender.

An important way in which the identity of the Self is constructed in Zelensky's speeches is through references to shared norms and values. In his speech to the Crimea Platform summit, he directly speaks about Ukraine as if it was a part of the European Union. He then continues this connection to the value of freedom and human rights for all without discrimination based on religion or ethnicity (Zelensky 2022e).

The return of the Ukrainian flag is the arrival of the European Union on the peninsula. In the full sense of these words. (...) The return of the Ukrainian flag is the protection of human rights, it is freedom for all people in Crimea, for all communities - ethnic or religious. (Zelensky 2022e)

The identity of the Self is also frequently connected to certain criteria. If the criteria are fulfilled, then an actor is part of the representation of the Self. When speaking about support, those included in the Self are the ones that have supported Ukraine. Zelensky also relies on the self-identification of other states to connect them to his constructed Self. By using statements like "every part of the world where freedom is valued more than the mercy of a tyrant." (Zelensky 2023g), he invites his audience to self-identify with the identity he is constructing. Through the self-identification, the audience is also more connected to the identity, because they invest in the identity emotionally (Solomon 2014, 729). The importance of Zelensky's construction of the Self is that it draws everyone included in it on his side and makes it more likely that they will understand the conflict in the way he describes it. Through being part of the Self, the meaning of the discourse is also shaped by that perspective.

### 5.2 The West

When the representation is about Russia and the war in general, then the West is included in the representation of Self. However, when the content is about mobilizing support, then western nations are not always described positively. When discussing support, Zelensky often focuses on the issue of time (Zelensky 2023b) and constructs an identity of western nations that hesitate too much (Zelensky 2022a), talk too much before making a decision (Zelensky 2023d) and have not been direct and honest with Ukraine in the past (Zelensky 2022a). What is important for understanding the relationship between support and the identity constructed here is agency. Zelensky represents the Western nations, his audience, so that they can change their identity for the better. The way they can do this is by supporting Ukraine.

If Europe hesitates, evil may have time to regroup and prepare itself for years of war. It is in your power not to allow this to happen. (Zelensky 2023i)

This puts western nations in a position where they are not only able to act, they are expected to.

Not acting would mean accepting the negative version of the constructed identity. Combined with the emotional investment into the positive Self, this represents supporting Ukraine as a norm that anyone part of the Self is able and expected to follow.

#### 5.3 The Other

The construction of Russian identity in Zelensky's speeches represents it as the Other, the opposite of the Self. A term that is used very frequently in this context is terror, for example during the speech to the UK parliament.

On the fifth day, the terror against us has already become outright. (Zelensky 2022c)

This sentence shows where the line in identity between the Self and the Other is. The Self is the "us", which is the victim. The Other is the one that brings the "terror". The word terror is used often and tied even stronger to the identity of Russia with terms like "terrorist", "terrorist state" and "war criminal" being used throughout multiple speeches (Zelensky 2023b; 2023e; 2023g; 2023i). The choice of the word terror is especially important because it is a term that already has significant meaning outside the Russo-Ukrainian war. The term terror frames the Russian actions as illegitimate and unjustifiable, because terror is not considered acceptable. It should be noted that in the Western understanding of the term, there is a previously existing connection to Russia from the Cold War. As Geoffrey Skoll (2007) writes in a history of the term: "In the Cold War, terrorism was what the Soviet Union did." (2007, 126).

The identity of the Other also gets associated with historical and cultural references that position it as the enemy. One example is the connection Zelensky draws between Russia and the Nazis during his address to the UK parliament (Zelensky 2022c).

On the sixth day, Russian missiles hit Babyn Yar. This is the place where the Nazis executed 100,000 people during World War II. 80 years later, Russia killed them for a second time. (Zelensky 2022c)

Suggesting that Russia acts like the Nazis, represents it as cruel and evil, at least in the historical perspective of most Western countries. Another example is the previously mentioned use of the biblical story of David and Goliath at the 2023 Munich Security Conference (Zelensky 2023g).

thanks to which Russian Goliath has already started to lose his ground.(Zelensky 2023g)

These references are important to consider, because they draw a very clear line between who is good and who is evil, but also because they are suggesting a path into the future. In the story, Goliath was defeated. The Nazis were defeated as well. By putting the identity of Russia next to these examples, losing the war becomes part of their identity itself, just like winning becomes part of the identity of Ukraine. Even apart from the connection with terror, the way in which Zelensky's speeches construct the identity of Russia, of the Other, also use moral concepts. A strong example of this is in the speech of president Zelensky to the European Council Meeting (Zelensky 2023i).

to bring closer the time when we will be able to drive out the Russian terrorists further from Ukraine – these war criminals, who, as every one of you knows, are dreaming of bringing to your cities the evil they have brought to Ukraine. (Zelensky 2023i)

The important part in this quote is not the connection to war criminals that was mentioned before. The important part is that the identity of the Other is described as one that dreams of bringing evil. In this view the bringing of evil is itself the goal of the Other, not just a means to an end or a byproduct.

It should also be noted that the construction of the Other in Zelensky's speeches does not always refer to Russia. Instead, during his speech at the 2023 Munich Security Conference he directly referred to Russian president Vladimir Putin as the problem and separates him from Russia: "I am confident that we can gain victory not only over Putin, but also over putins; not only over putins in Russia but all around the world." (Zelensky 2023g) In this case the Other is Putin, not Russia. The responsibility for the war lies with him since it is "Putin's war," (Zelensky 2022e). Zelensky goes on to describe Putin's relation to the Self.

We, united Davids shall prevail over putins scattered all over the world! (Zelensky 2023g)

The way Putin's identity is constructed here is as isolated, "scattered" (Zelensky 2023g), while the Self, the Davids, are united. The description of the Self as united and the Other as isolated is another one of the central themes of Russian identity construction in Zelensky's speeches. The representations of the actors in the speeches are often Russia on the one hand and the rest of the world on the other.

These constructed identities form perspectives from which meaning is created and the discourse is interpreted. By bringing western nations from which Ukraine wants support into the Self and representing the Other as an evil aggressor, Zelensky's speeches work to support those representations that are favorable to Ukraine. By building on the background of these identities, the specific representations and techniques to mobilize support can be analyzed.

## **6 SUPPORT MOBILIZATION IN DISCOURSE**

Previous chapters showed features of Zelensky's speeches that he uses to construct representations, as well as which identities are constructed in the discourse. With this background, it becomes possible to analyze how the discourse of his speeches is related to support for Ukraine. The discourse analysis of the speeches revealed different modes of engagement with the audience related to support for Ukraine. This chapter will discuss these modes of engagement and the representations they use to show how Zelensky's public diplomacy works to influence the discourse in a way that enables western support for Ukraine.

#### 6.1 War as Attacks on the West

The discourse encourages support in different ways, for example by using representations of the conflict itself. As previously described, the construction of the Self in the discourse closely connects Ukraine and western nations. In this way the Russian invasion is not represented as a conflict between two nations, but instead as a conflict between the Self and the Other. The attack on Ukraine is represented as an attack on all the nations that are considered part of the Self. Zelensky makes this clear when he talks about support, stating that "This is your contribution to the security of Europe and the world." (Zelensky 2022a). In this representation Ukraine defending against Russian attacks is not the defense of Ukraine alone, it is the defense of "Europe and the world." (Zelensky 2022a).

Zelensky presents the attack as an attack on more than just Ukraine by representing it as an attack on the values of the Self. In this logic, supporting Ukraine therefore also means defending one's values. An example is when he talks about how well European support worked over the winter:

All of this is the evidence that Europe knows how to defend its values and has the courage to stand up to terror. (Zelensky 2023i)

Zelensky directly refers to European support as defending its values. The representation of the war is not between Ukraine and Russia, it is that Russia attacked Europe and its values and by supporting Ukraine, Europe is defending itself.

## 6.2 Norms, Morals and Duty

To mobilize support, Zelensky's speeches show representations that put other countries in a position where they would be expected to support Ukraine for reasons of norms and moral beliefs. In his speeches, Zelensky often relies on the norm of reciprocity to encourage support. Anthony Pratkanis describes the norm as a common strategy for social influence in public diplomacy (Pratkanis 2020, 147–48). In the constructed identity of the Self, Ukraine represents itself as defending shared values against an outside threat. Through representing the conflict in this way, supporting Ukraine is only the fulfillment of basic social norms. In his 2022 speech in Munich (Zelensky 2022b), president Zelensky makes the expectation for reciprocity clear.

These are not noble gestures for which Ukraine should bow low. This is your contribution to the security of Europe and the world. Where Ukraine has been a reliable shield for eight years. And for eight years it has been rebuffing one of the world's biggest armies. Which stands along our borders, not the borders of the EU. (Zelensky 2022a)

In some speeches, Zelensky also creates shameful representations that are meant to mobilize support. This use of shame and identity for mobilizing support has also been noticed in the public media, with the BBC directly writing about how he uses it as a way to "get what he needs" (Adams 2022). An early example of this can again be seen in his Munich 2022 speech (Zelensky 2022a), days before the beginning of the invasion.

We will defend our land with or without the support of partners. Whether they give us hundreds of modern weapons or five thousand helmets. We appreciate any help, but everyone should understand that these are not charitable contributions that Ukraine should ask for or remind of. (Zelensky 2022a)

At first sight, the focus here seems to be on the determination of Ukraine to defend against invasion. It is also clear that Zelensky tries to establish that Ukraine is entitled to the support. The potentially most impactful part of the statement is hidden in the representation of what kind of support there could be. "5000 Helmets" on the lowest end and "hundreds of modern weapons" on the highest (Zelensky 2022a). At the time, Germany was reluctant to send weapons to Ukraine, offering 5000 helmets instead (von der Buchard 2022). By indirectly referring to the German support package as the absolute minimum possible, it represents that amount of support as shamefully low. This representation is also supported by the similar structure of the first sentences, which connects the "5000 helmets" to the "without the support of partners" (Zelensky 2022a). By indirectly shaming Germany for their lack of support, the speech establishes a norm of what kind of support is expected.

## 6.3 Reframing Materialities

When speaking about some certain types of support, especially weapons, Zelensky represents them in a way that shows them as something that can save lives. An example of this is Zelensky's speech on January 26th 2023, when he asked for long range missiles from his allies (Zelensky 2023e). He started his speech by speaking about a Russian missile attack on a residential building that allegedly happened that day. He also explained that the attack would not have happened if Ukraine had long range missiles, since then the Russians would not have been able to come close enough (Zelensky 2023e).

We will do everything we can to ensure that partners open up this vital supply – in particular, the supply of ATACMS and other similar weapons. As it is necessary to protect life. (Zelensky 2023f)

Such a representation changes the narrative about the object itself. In this representation of long range missiles, giving Ukraine access to these weapons is no longer about providing military power. Instead, it becomes reframed as a way to save lives. Changing the representation of the type of support itself also becomes important with the "Foot-In-The-Door" (Pratkanis 2020, 149) technique of public diplomacy. Once some small support is given, continuously asking for more is a tactic to increase the support step by step. Representing the next type of support as a reasonable continuation of the previous helps this tactic of support mobilization to be successful (Pratkanis 2020, 149).

#### 6.4 Fear and Self-Interest

Representing the conflict in a way that is threatening to western nations is another method through which Zelensky tries to mobilize support. The conflict is presented as something that must be stopped for the security of the world, as something that threatens more than Ukraine. What makes this different from the representation of the war as an attack on the Self is that it relies on fear. An example of how Zelensky appeals to fear comes from his speech at the 2023 Munich Security Conference, when he asks his allies to make support decisions faster (Zelensky 2023h).

While we are trying to convince that Ukraine needs modern combat aircraft, the Kremlin has already convinced the Iranian regime. The result is not only lethal Iranian drones in Ukrainian skies. But also something, with which the Kremlin paid for it. Are you sure it's just money? Or, maybe, the world will face the "enriched Iranian regime"? (Zelensky 2023g)

Without mentioning it directly, but still in a way where the entire audience most likely understood what he was saying, Zelensky suggests that Russia might pay Iran with enriched nuclear material. He appeals to the fear of other countries that Iran could manage to successfully build a nuclear weapon. Fear appeals have also been mentioned by Anthony Pratkanis to be a tactic of social influence in public diplomacy (Pratkanis 2020, 148). He describes it as effective, especially when there is a clear action to overcome the fear (Pratkanis 2020, 148–49), which in this case is support for Ukraine. In some rare cases, Zelensky also appeals to positive self-interest, for example when he suggests that supporting Ukraine could increase Europe's "global strength" (Zelensky 2023i).

## 6.5 Urgency and Agency

A common theme in the speeches of president Zelensky is him asking his audience to make decisions to support Ukraine quickly. There are two main representations used to support this. Time as a "Russian weapon" (Zelensky 2023d) and long approval times for support as responsible for lengthening the war (Zelensky 2023i). In the analyzed speech, where he addresses the European Council (Zelensky 2023i) he directly connects delayed support with a longer war.

But, dear colleagues, don't you feel that we have fewer new successes than new protractions in our joint efforts? (...) This moves us further away from achieving peace. (Zelensky 2023i)

Putting the responsibility for a longer war on delayed support also has an emotional impact. It suggests that waiting with support or being hesitant is like actively helping Russia. Through this, the representation creates emotional pressure to act fast. After asking for faster support decisions, he says that "You can start this policy today." (Zelensky 2023d). This gives his audience agency to act and directly suggests when they should do so. It also adds emotional

punishment to inaction, since if the western nation does not act in this framing, it is because it was not willing to do so.

## 6.6 Goal-Setting

Goal-setting is a way in which Ukrainian public diplomacy works to mobilize support, but also to protect its strategic interests. Goal-setting means representing the desired course of the war in a way that is favorable for the Self, meaning also other nations, while still including Ukraine's interests. An example of this is how Zelensky connected the end of the war with Ukraine regaining control over Crimea (Zelensky 2022e).

The return of the Ukrainian flag to Crimea is the return of the normality familiar to all Europeans, as it is available in each of your countries. Security normality, economic, legal, social, cultural. (Zelensky 2022e)

Zelensky represents the end of the war, also from the perspective of other Europeans, as the return of Crimea to Ukraine. The idea that the war could end without Crimea being returned is also moved further away by the rest of the speech, where he already asks his audience to make plans for when Crimea is returned to Ukraine (Zelensky 2022e). Zelensky also tries to avoid any peace plans that do not align with Ukraine's goals. In his address to the European Council he asks for support in organizing a summit for the peace formula he presented (Zelensky 2023j).

the Peace Formula, the Ukrainian Peace Formula, which I presented in the autumn, is the only realistic and comprehensive plan to restore Ukraine's territorial integrity and guarantee security for our people and for the whole of Europe. (Zelensky 2023i)

By representing the peace formula as the only "realistic" (Zelensky 2023i) plan, he questions any other plan that could have goals that are against the interest of Ukraine.

## 7 Conclusion

In this thesis, I investigated how Ukrainian political actors use public diplomacy to influence western public opinion to gain support for Ukraine. It is extremely difficult to prove whether public diplomacy directly results in the mobilization of support. Instead, the result of public diplomacy should be seen in the context of Robert Putnam's (1988) two-level game. In this view of the situation public diplomacy works to increase "win-set" (Putnam 1988, 435–36) and makes support more likely. The way in which public diplomacy achieves this is by influencing the discourse on the war and support. To understand how this is done I performed discourse analysis on speeches by Ukrainian president Volodymyr Zelensky. By showing how his speeches influence the discourse and which identities and representations he constructs, this thesis contributes to the literature on public diplomacy by providing a case study for its use in gaining western support. Through its focus on the role of emotion, this thesis also contributes to the emotional turn and supports the analysis of emotions as a way to better understand public diplomacy.

The discourse analysis showed that the speeches use a wide variety of features to create representations. These include visual elements such as specific clothing, intertextual references, representations of personal connection, linguistic elements and frequent use of emotion. While there are multiple identities constructed in the speeches, the most important and frequent ones were about Ukraine and Russia, the Self and the Other respectively. The Self, which included Ukraine and western nations, was constructed around shared values and the opposition to Russia. The Other was framed as "evil" and a "terrorist state" which is guaranteed to be defeated.

After identifying these constructed identities, the thesis went on to show how the identities and features of Zelensky's speeches work together to create different ways of

promoting support for Ukraine in the audience. By appealing to western self-interest and shared norms, reframing requests for specific military support, creating time pressure and setting out the conditions under which the war is considered over, president Zelensky tries to persuade the audience that Ukraine should be supported. The thesis also showed that with each of these modes of engagement, Zelensky used emotions to strengthen the constructed representations. Throughout all the speeches, emotion played an important role that was used to persuade the audience to accept the meaning created by the representations.

The findings of this thesis highlight the need for policymakers in western nations to be aware of Ukrainian public diplomacy efforts. Without awareness, western policymakers risk putting Ukraine into a position where it could promote its interests unchecked, which could give it more influence over western public opinion than policymakers might accept. It also suggests that public diplomacy might become more important in global foreign policy, since countries like Ukraine have specific agencies for it and use it consistently.

By building on the modes of engagement and the constructed identities revealed in this thesis, future research could focus on how western nations have or could have responded to such public diplomacy. Future research could also investigate Russian public diplomacy during the same time and compare both it and Ukrainian public diplomacy regarding how they are different from and relate to each other.

# APPENDIX: ANALYZED SPEECHES

Speech Title	Occasion	Date
Speech by the President of Ukraine	58th Munich Security Conference	February 19 <sup>th</sup> 2022
Address by the President of Ukraine	Parliament of the United Kingdom	March 8 <sup>th</sup> 2022
The return of the Ukrainian flag to Crimea will mean the restoration of real peace	First parliamentary summit of the Crimea Platform	October 25 <sup>th</sup> 2022
President's greetings on Christmas	Christmas	January 6 <sup>th</sup> 2023
Mobilization of the world must outpace the next military mobilization of our joint enemy	"Restoring Security and Peace" session during the annual meeting of the World Economic Forum	January 18 <sup>th</sup> 2023
It is in your power to make a Ramstein of tanks	Meeting of the Advisory Group on Defense of Ukraine in the "Ramstein" format	January 20 <sup>th</sup> 2023
Ukraine needs long-range missiles so that terrorists do not have a feeling of impunity	Daily Address	January 28 <sup>th</sup> 2023
We have to liberate Ukraine and Europe, because when the Russian weapon shoots at us, it is already pointed at our neighbors	Munich Security Conference	February 17 <sup>th</sup> 2023
If Europe hesitates, evil can prepare itself for years of war, it is in your power not to allow this to happen	European Council meeting	March 23 <sup>rd</sup> 2023

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Adams, Paul. 2022. "Shame on You": How President Zelensky Uses Speeches to Get What He Needs'. *BBC News*, 24 March 2022, sec. Europe.
- Aljazeera. 2023. 'Germany, US Agree to Send Battle Tanks to Ukraine: Reports'. Aljazeera. 24 January 2023. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2023/1/24/germany-clears-the-way-for-leopard-2-tank-deliveries-to-ukraine.
- Andersen, Rune S., Juha A. Vuori, and Xavier Guillaume. 2015. 'Chromatology of Security: Introducing Colours to Visual Security Studies'. *Security Dialogue* 46 (5): 440–57.
- Antezza, Arianna, André Frank, Pascal Frank, Lukas Franz, Ivan Kharitonov, Bharath Kumar, Ekaterina Rebinskaya, and Christoph Trebesch. 2022. 'The Ukraine Support Tracker: Which Countries Help Ukraine and How?' Working Paper 2218. Kiel Working Paper.
- Bleiker, Roland. 2017. 'Multidisciplinarity'. In *Routledge Handbook of International Political Sociology*, edited by Xavier Guillaume and Pinar Bilgin, 319–27. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Bleiker, Roland, and Emma Hutchison. 2008. 'Fear No More: Emotions and World Politics'. *Review of International Studies* 34 (S1): 115–35.
- ——. 2017. 'Methods and Methodologies for the Study of Emotions in World Politics'. In Researching Emotions in International Relations: Methodological Perspectives on the Emotional Turn, edited by Maéva Clément and Eric Sangar, 325–42. Springer.
- Buchard, Hans von der. 2022. 'Germany to Send 5,000 Protective Helmets to Ukraine'. *POLITICO*, 26 January 2022. https://www.politico.eu/article/germany-export-5000-helmets-ukraine/.
- Buncombe, Andrew. 2022. 'How Zelensky's Simple Green T-Shirt Became an Iconic Message of Defiance'. *The Independent*, 21 March 2022, sec. News. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/zelensky-green-tshirt-ukraine-president-b2040590.html.
- Byrne, Caitlin. 2016. 'Public Diplomacy'. In *Foreign Policy: Theories, Actors, Cases*, edited by Steve Smith, Amelia Hadfield, and Timothy Dunne, 168–85. Oxford University Press.
- Child, David, Farah Najjar, Umut Uras, and Federica Marsi. 2022. 'Ukraine Latest Updates: Zelenskyy Calls for More Support | Russia-Ukraine War News | Al Jazeera'. Aljazeera. 7 March 2022. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/3/7/russian-military-conscripts-will-not-go-to-ukraine-putin-liveblog.
- Connolly, William E. 2002. *Identity, Difference: Democratic Negotiations of Political Paradox*. University of Minnesota Press.
- Derian, James Der. 1987. 'Mediating Estrangement: A Theory for Diplomacy'. *Review of International Studies* 13 (2): 91–110.
- Dunn, Kevin C., and Iver B. Neumann. 2017. 'Discourse Analysis'. In *Routledge Handbook of International Political Sociology*, edited by Xavier Guillaume and Pinar Bilgin, 262–71. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Falk, Thomas O. 2022. 'How Much Money Has the West Spent on the Ukraine War?' Aljazeera. 27 December 2022. https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2022/12/27/how-much-money-has-the-west-spent-on-the-ukraine-war.
- Fomenko, Olena. 2022. 'Brand New Ukraine? Cultural Icons and National Identity in Times of War'. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, September.
- Friedman, Vanessa. 2022. 'The Man in the Olive Green Tee'. *The New York Times*, 21 March 2022. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/21/style/volodymyr-zelensky-t-shirt.html.

- Gass, Robert H., and John S. Seiter. 2020. 'Credibility and Public Diplomacy'. In *Routledge Handbook of Public Diplomacy*, edited by Nancy Snow and Nicholas J. Cull, 155–68. Routledge.
- Gee, James Paul. 2014. *How to Do Discourse Analysis: A Toolkit*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge. Gilboa, Eytan. 2008. 'Searching for a Theory of Public Diplomacy'. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 616 (1): 55–77.
- Goffman, Erving. 1956. 'The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life/Erving Goffman'. University of Edinburgh.
- Graham, Sarah Ellen. 2014. 'Emotion and Public Diplomacy: Dispositions in International Communications, Dialogue, and Persuasion'. *International Studies Review* 16 (4): 522–39.
- Hall, Todd H. 2015. *Emotional Diplomacy: Official Emotion on the International Stage*. Cornell University Press.
- Hochschild, Arlie Russell. 2012. *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*. University of California Press.
- Horbyk, Roman, and Dariya Orlova. 2022. 'Transmedia Storytelling and Memetic Warfare: Ukraine's Wartime Public Diplomacy'. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, November.
- Hutchison, Emma, and Roland Bleiker. 2014. 'Theorizing Emotions in World Politics'. *International Theory* 6 (3): 491–514.
- Jepperson, Ronald L., Alexander Wendt, and Peter J. Katzenstein. 1996. 'Norms, Identity, and Culture in National Security'. In *The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics*, edited by Peter J. Katzenstein, 8–43. Columbia University Press.
- Kaminskij, Konstantin. 2022. 'Joker as the Servant of the People. Volodymyr Zelensky, Russophone Entertainment and the Performative Turn in World Politics'. *Russian Literature* 127: 151–75.
- Kaneva, Nadia. 2022. "Brave Like Ukraine": A Critical Discourse Perspective on Ukraine's Wartime Brand'. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, September, 1–5.
- Koschut, Simon. 2017. 'Speaking from the Heart: Emotion Discourse Analysis in International Relations'. In *Researching Emotions in International Relations: Methodological Perspectives on the Emotional Turn*, edited by Maéva Clément and Eric Sangar, 277–302. Springer.
- Koschut, Simon, Todd H. Hall, Reinhard Wolf, Ty Solomon, Emma Hutchison, and Roland Bleiker. 2017. 'Discourse and Emotions in International Relations'. *International Studies Review* 19 (3): 481–508.
- Kowert, Paul. 1998. 'Agent versus Structure in the Construction of National Identity'. In *International Relations in a Constructed World*. M.E. Sharpe.
- Kuznetsov, Sergei. 2022. 'Russian Forces in Full Retreat from Kharkiv as Ukraine Seeks to Turn Tide of War'. *POLITICO*, 10 September 2022. https://www.politico.eu/article/russian-forces-in-full-retreat-as-ukraine-seeks-to-turn-tide-of-war/.
- Langston, Stephen. 2022. 'Volodymyr Zelensky: How Acting Prepared the Ukrainian President for the Role of His Life'. *The Conversation University of the West of Scotland*, 11 March 2022.
- Lee, Seow Ting. 2022. 'A Battle for Foreign Perceptions: Ukraine's Country Image in the 2022 War with Russia'. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, 1–14.
- Lock, Samantha, Maanvi Singh, Gloria Oladipo, Léonie Chao-Fong, Jennifer Rankin, and Oliver Holmes. 2022. 'Russia Invades Ukraine and Advances on Kyiv as It Happened'. *The Guardian*, 25 February 2022, sec. World news.

- Luscombe, Richard. 2022. 'US Vows "Swift, Severe and United Response" If Russia Invades Ukraine'. *The Guardian*, 23 January 2022, sec. World news.
- Manor, Ilan. 2019. *The Digitalization of Public Diplomacy*. Palgrave Macmillan Series in Global Public Diplomacy. Springer International Publishing.
- Matsuoka, Misato, and Rieko Matsuoka. 2022. 'Cultivation of Solidarity and Soft Power: Ukrainian President Zelensky's 2022 Speech to Japan'. *East European Journal of Psycholinguistics* 9 (2).
- Melissen, Jan. 2005. 'The New Public Diplomacy: Between Theory and Practice'. In *The New Public Diplomacy: Soft Power in International Relations*, edited by Jan Melissen, 3–27. London: Palgrave Macmillan Uk.
- Milliken, Jennifer. 1999. 'The Study of Discourse in International Relations: A Critique of Research and Methods'. *European Journal of International Relations* 5 (2): 225–54.
- Mor, Ben D. 2007. 'The Rhetoric of Public Diplomacy and Propaganda Wars: A View from Self-presentation Theory'. *European Journal of Political Research* 46 (5): 661–83.
- ———. 2012. 'Credibility Talk in Public Diplomacy'. *Review of International Studies* 38 (2): 393–422.
- Munich Security Conference. 2023. 'Munich Security Conference 2023 Main Program'. Stiftung Münchner Sicherheitskonferenz. https://securityconference.org/msc-2023/agenda/.
- Neumann, Iver B. 2008. 'Discourse Analysis'. In *Qualitative Methods in International Relations: A Pluralist Guide*, 61–77. Research Methods Series. Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Patrona, Marianna. 2022. 'Snapshots from an Information War: Propaganda, Intertextuality, and Audience Design in the Russia–Ukraine Conflict'. *Violence: An International Journal* 3 (2): 253–80.
- Potapenko, Serhiy. 2023. 'Ukrainian President Zelensky's Resistance Discourse: Cognitive Rhetorical Analysis of the Address to the UK Parliament', DiscourseNet Collaborative Working Paper Series, no. 8/6 (Discourses of War The influence of the war against Ukraine on discourses worldwide).
- Pratkanis, Anthony. 2020. 'Tactics of Social Influence for Use in International Conflicts'. In *Routledge Handbook of Public Diplomacy*, edited by Nancy Snow and Nicholas J. Cull, 147–54. Routledge.
- Putnam, Robert D. 1988. 'Diplomacy and Domestic Politics: The Logic of Two-Level Games'. *International Organization* 42 (3): 427–60.
- Risse-Kappen, Thomas. 1996. 'Collective Identity in a Democratic Community: The Case of NATO'. In *The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics*, edited by Peter J. Katzenstein, 292–325. Columbia University Press.
- Sharp, Paul. 2005. 'Revolutionary States, Outlaw Regimes and the Techniques of Public Diplomacy'. In *The New Public Diplomacy: Soft Power in International Relations*, edited by Jan Melissen, 106–23. London: Palgrave Macmillan Uk.
- Sheludiakova, Natalia, Bahodir Mamurov, Iryna Maksymova, Kateryna Slyusarenko, and Iryna Yegorova. 2021. 'Communicating the Foreign Policy Strategy: On Instruments and Means of Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Ukraine'. In *SHS Web of Conferences*. Vol. 100. EDP Sciences.
- Skoll, Geoffrey R. 2007. 'Meanings of Terrorism'. *International Journal for the Semiotics of Law-Revue Internationale de Sémiotique Juridique* 20 (2): 107–27.
- Smogorzewski, K. M. 1975. 'Hitler's Free City: A History of the Nazi Party in Danzig, 1925–1939'. *International Affairs* 51 (1): 95–96.

- Solomon, Ty. 2014. 'The Affective Underpinnings of Soft Power'. European Journal of International Relations 20 (3): 720–41.
- Summerfield, Penny. 2010. 'Dunkirk and the Popular Memory of Britain at War, 1940—58'. *Journal of Contemporary History* 45 (4): 788–811.
- The Presidential Office of Ukraine. 2023. 'Speeches Official Web Site of the President of Ukraine'. Official Website of the President of Ukraine. 1 May 2023. https://www.president.gov.ua/en/news/speeches.
- The Times of India. 2022. 'Khaki Nation: Ukraine Dresses for War', 14 November 2022. https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/life-style/fashion/buzz/khaki-nation-ukraine-dresses-for-war/articleshow/95498739.cms.
- Tomz, Michael, Jessica L.P. Weeks, and Keren Yarhi-Milo. 2019. 'Public Opinion and Decisions About Military Force in Democracies'. *International Organization* 74 (1): 119–43.
- Van Dijk, Teun Adrianus. 2012. 'Discourse and Kowledge'. In *The Routledge Handbook of Discourse Analysis*, edited by James Paul Gee and Michael Handford, 587–603. Taylor and Francis.
- Van Dijk, Teun Adrianus, and Walter Kintsch. 1983. *Strategies of Discourse Comprehension*. Academic press New York.
- Wendt, Alexander. 1999. *Social Theory of International Politics*. Cambridge University Press. Zachara-Szymańska, Małgorzata. 2023. 'The Return of the Hero-Leader? Volodymyr Zelensky's International Image and the Global Response to Russia's Invasion of Ukraine'. *Leadership*.
- Zelensky, Volodymyr. 2022a. 'Speech by the President of Ukraine at the 58th Munich Security Conference'. Transcript of Speech, 58th Munich Security Conference, February 19. https://www.president.gov.ua/en/news/vistup-prezidenta-ukrayini-na-58-j-myunhenskij-konferenciyi-72997.
- ——. 2022b. 'Speech by the President of Ukraine at the 58th Munich Security Conference'. Video of Speech, 19:02, February 19. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OKQLcacZX5o.
- ——. 2022c. 'Address by the President of Ukraine to the Parliament of the United Kingdom'. Transcript of Speech, Parliament of the United Kingdom, March 8. https://www.president.gov.ua/en/news/zvernennya-prezidenta-ukrayini-volodimira-zelenskogo-do-parl-73441.
- ———. 2022d. 'Address by the President of Ukraine to the Parliament of the United Kingdom'. Video of Speech, 09:34, March 8. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GavaV2cQEjw.
- ——. 2022f. 'The Return of the Ukrainian Flag to Crimea Will Mean the Restoration of Real Peace President's Speech at the First Parliamentary Summit of the Crimea Platform'. Video of Speech, 10:49, October 25. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cSTX7EwSVmM.
- ———. 2023a. 'President's Greetings on Christmas'. Video of Speech, 04:37, January 6. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=T7yrPRsXzxA&t=6s.
- ———. 2023b. 'Mobilization of the World Must Outpace the next Military Mobilization of Our Joint Enemy Address by the President of Ukraine at "Restoring Security and Peace" Session during the Annual Meeting of the World Economic Forum'. Transcript

